# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DARRELL KING AND MARY KING

**PLAINTIFF** 

VS.

NO. 2007-IA-00621-SCT

CHARLES E. BUNTON III
MISSISSIPPI HOUSING AUTHORITIES
RISK MANAGEMENT, INC.; and
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY
OF VICKSBURG

**DEFENDANTS** 

# **BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

David A. Barfield (MBN Steven L. Lacey (MBN BARFIELD & ASSOCIATES Attorneys at Law, P.A. 233 East Capitol Street Post Office Drawer 3979 Jackson, Mississippi 39207-3979 Telephone: (601) 968-9420

Facsimile: (601) 968-9425

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANTS** 

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I. Whether the Trial Court erred in denying the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss based upon Plaintiffs' failure to comply with the statutorily-prescribed ninety day period before filing suit pursuant to the Mississippi Tort Claims Act? Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(1).

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of an automobile accident that occurred on August 26, 2004. Plaintiffs sent a Mississippi Tort Claims Act ("hereinafter known as MTCA") Notice of Claim to the proper Executive Director of the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg (Mr. Jim Stirgus) on August 15, 2005 pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11. (RV 1 at p. 24)(RE 2). Plaintiffs then filed their cause of action on August 22, 2005 in the Warren County Circuit Court against Charles E. Bunton (a Housing Authority Employee) and the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg only seven (7) days after serving their Notice of Claim. (RV 1 at p. 6-10)(RE 3). On August 31, 2006, the Honorable Circuit Court Judge Isador Patrick granted Plaintiff's request for leave to file an Amended Complaint to add the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg. (RV 2 at p. 268-269)(RE 5). On September 26, 2006, Plaintiffs filed an Amended Complaint without naming any new parties. (RV 3 at p. 347-352)(RE 6). In fact, the caption and paragraph 15 of the original Complaint and the Amended Complaint are identical. (RV 1 at p. 6-10)(RV 3 at p. 347-352)(RE 3 & 6). On February, 22, 2007, Defendants argued a Motion to Dismiss based upon the MTCA ninety-day notice requirement and in the alternative the MTCA statute of limitations. (RV 3 at p. 392-397)(RE 7). The Trial Court issued its Order denying the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss on April 5, 2007 opining that Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint relates back under MRCP 15(c) and was therefore not barred by the statue of limitations. The Court also opined that Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint was filed after the ninety-day notice provision of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. (RV 4 at p. 482)(RE 8). From this Order, Defendants timely filed their Petition for Permission to Appeal that this Court granted on June 14, 2007.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

It is undisputed by the parties that the automobile accident in question occurred on August 26, 2004. It is also undisputed that Plaintiffs sent a Mississippi Tort Claims Act Notice of Claim to the Executive Director of the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg (Mr. Jim Stirgus) on August 15, 2005. (RV 1 at p. 24)(RE 2). In addition, it is undisputed that Plaintiffs filed their cause of action against Charles E. Bunton (a Housing Authority Employee) and the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg only seven (7) days after serving their Notice of Claim on August 22, 2005. (RV 1 at p. 6-10)(RE 3).

During a hearing of Defendants' original Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiffs argued that they were confused and sued the City of Vicksburg instead of the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg. (RV 5 p. 44 lines 8-29; p. 45 lines 1-22). On August 31, 2006, the Warren County Circuit Court granted Plaintiffs' request for leave to file an Amended Complaint in order to have the proper Defendants in this lawsuit. However, on September 26, 2006, Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint without naming any new parties. In fact, the caption and paragraph 15 of the original Complaint and Amended Complaint are identical. (RV 1 at p. 6-10)(RE 3) & (RV 3 at p. 347-352)(RE 6).

On February 22, 2007, the Defendants argued that Plaintiffs' cause of action should be dismissed for failure to comply with the MTCA ninety-day notice requirement and that Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint did not cure their procedural deficiency. In particular, Defendants argued that the Relation Back of Amendments pursuant to M.R.C.P. 15(c), relates back to the date of the original pleading, which in this case is August 22, 2005. (RV 5 p. 80-82)(RE 10). Therefore, the relation back date is only seven days after Plaintiffs filed their Notice of Claim on August 15, 2005. Finally, the undersigned Counsel has been unable to find any authority in Mississippi allowing

the relation back doctrine of M.R.C.P. 15(c) to circumvent the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ninety-day notice requirement.

Accordingly, because Plaintiffs did not comply with the notice provisions of § 11-46-11(1), their allegations against Bunton (a Housing Authority employee) and the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg Plaintiffs are procedurally barred and the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss should have been granted by the Trial Court in this matter.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The ruling of the Trial Court is inconsistent with the decisions of this Court in Wright v. Quesnel, 876 So.2d 362 (Miss. 2004) and University of Mississippi Medical Center v. Easterling 928 So.2d 815 (Miss. 2006). This Court found in Wright, that "[a]llowing a plaintiff to file suit before ninety days have passed since noticing the claim is tantamount to reading out the notice provisions of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. Gross disregard for the notice provisions is not considered substantial compliance." Wright at 366. In Easterling, this Court stated that the ninety-day notice requirement under section 11-46-11(1) is a "hard-edged, mandatory rule which the Court strictly enforces." Easterling at 820.

Plaintiffs' alleged confusion as to whether they sued the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg as an entity of the City of Vicksburg or the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg as its own public body politic can not relieve their obligation to comply with the notice provisions of § 11-46-11(1). There is no doubt that Plaintiffs knew they were suing a government entity as evidenced by paragraph 15 of the original Complaint, Amended Complaint, and the MTCA Notice of Claim sent to the Executive Director of the Housing Authority (Mr. Jim Stirgus) which specifically referenced Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11. (RV 1 at p. 6-10)(RE 3) & (RV 3 at p. 347-352)(RE 6).

## **ARGUMENT**

# Mississippi Torts Claims Act 90 Day Notice Requirement

This Court has been abundantly clear that under Mississippi law, in all claims against a "governmental entity," the MTCA mandates, as a prerequisite to suit, written notice of the claims be served ninety days *before* any action is filed:

[A]ny person having a claim for injury arising under the provisions of this chapter against a governmental entity or its employee shall proceed as he might in any action at law or in equity; provided, however, that ninety (90) days prior to maintaining an action thereon, such person shall file a notice of claim with the chief executive officer of the governmental entity.

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(1) (emphasis added).

Furthermore, this Court in Wright v. Quesnel, 876 So.2d 362, 366 (Miss. 2004) stated that:

[w]hile a plaintiff need only substantially comply with the MTCA notice statute, "we can hardly afford relief under the [MTCA] when there is no effort to comply with the procedural mandates." Little v. Miss. Dep't of Human Servs., 835 So.2d 9, 12-13 (Miss.2002) (emphasis added). That is, "[t]hough substantial compliance with the notice provisions is sufficient, 'substantial compliance is not the same as, nor a substitute for, non-compliance." "Gale v. Thomas, 759 So.2d 1150, 1158 (Miss.1999) (quoting Carr v. Town of Shubuta, 733 So.2d 261, 265 (Miss.1999)).

The Plaintiff in *Wright* filed her complaint eleven days after filing her Notice of Claim. *Id.* at 366. In other words, she filed a Notice of Claim, but did not wait the statutorily-prescribed ninety day period before filing suit. Similarly, Plaintiffs in this case filed their MTCA Notice of Claim on August 15, 2005 and their original Complaint only seven (7) days later on August 22, 2005, instead of waiting the statutorily required ninety (90) days prior to maintaining a cause of action. When analyzing *Wright's* claim, this Court found that "[a]llowing a plaintiff to file suit before ninety days have passed since noticing the claim is tantamount to reading out the notice provisions of the MTCA. Gross disregard for the notice provisions is not considered substantial compliance." *Id.* at 366.

Subsequent to the *Wright* case, this Court decided *University of Mississippi Medical Center* v. Easterling 928 So.2d 815 (Miss. 2006) and stated as follows:

In order to make it perfectly clear to all that strict compliance is required, as stated in *Davis* and *Wright*, we hereby overrule *Tomlinson* and its progeny, including *Booneville*, *Givens*, *City of Wiggins*, *Mississippi School for Blind*, and *Clay County*, but only as to those cases' analysis of the ninety-day notice requirement.

Since the MTCA's passage in 1993, a considerable amount of time has passed for the legal profession to become aware of the ninety-day notice requirement in section 11-46-11(1). See 1993 Miss. Laws 476. The result here, as in *Ivy*, is that the ninety-day notice requirement under section 11-46-11(1) is a "hard-edged, mandatory rule which the Court strictly enforces." *Ivy*, 612 So.2d at 1116.

# Easterling at 820.

Before the Trial Court, Plaintiffs argued that they sent a Notice of Claim to the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg on August 15, 2005. That they filed their original Complaint on August 22, 2005, however, did not file the Amended Complaint until September 26, 2006 and therefore Defendants had been on "notice" for well over ninety days by the time the Amended Complaint was filed. (RV 5 at p. 83-84)(RE 10). However, the caption and paragraph 15 of the original Complaint and Amended Complaint are identical. Both Complaints name Charles E. Bunton and the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg as parties to this lawsuit. (RV 1 at p. 6-10)(RE 3) & (RV 3 at p. 347-352)(RE 6). Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' cause of action argued that pursuant to M.R.C.P. 15(c) Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint relates back to the date of the original pleading, which in this case is August 22, 2005. M.R.C.P. 15(c)(2). (RV 3 at p. 392-397). As such, the Amended Complaint relation back date (August 22, 2005) remains only seven days after Plaintiffs filed their Notice of Claim with Jim Stirgus the Executive Director of the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg. Under these circumstances, Plaintiffs should not have been relieved of their procedural deficiency in failing to comply with the MTCA Notice of Claim

requirements. Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-11(1). The undersigned counsel has not found any Mississippi authority that would allow the relation back doctrine in Rule 15(c) to circumvent the requirements set out in the Mississippi Tort Claims Act ninety-day notice requirement of Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-11(1).

Accordingly, because Plaintiffs did not comply with the notice provisions of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11(1) their allegations against Bunton (a Housing Authority employee) and the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg is procedurally barred and their cause of action should be dismissed with prejudice.

# Alternatively, Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint Is Time Barred

Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend their original Complaint asserted that they were adding a party. (RV 2 at p. 268-260)(RE 5). Therefore, Defendants argued, in the alternative, that Plaintiffs Amended Complaint to the extent it added any new government entities to this suit was barred by the MTCA statute of limitations. That the actionable conduct in this case occurred on August 26, 2004. That Plaintiffs' Notice of Claim was sent and received on August 17, 2005, 356 days after the action occurred. The statute of limitations was tolled for 120 days from August 17, 2005, because the action was against the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg; therefore, the tolling period would have ended on December 15, 2005. Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-11(3). That after the tolling period ended, the Plaintiffs had only 9 days left in the original one-year statute (365 days minus 356 days), or until December 24, 2005, plus the additional 90 days, to file suit. Miss. Code Ann. 11-46-11(3). (RV 5 at p. 80-83) (RE 10). Therefore, Plaintiffs' cause of action needed to be filed by March 24, 2006 in order to be timely. See *Page v. University of Southern Mississippi*, 878 So.2d 1003, 1005-09 (Miss. 2004). However, Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint was not filed until September 26, 2006. Therefore, the Amended Complaint is time-barred under the MTCA statute

of limitations to the extent that Plaintiffs assert that their Amended Complaint added the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg as new party. *Id*.

Succinctly, Plaintiffs inappropriately filed their original Complaint without waiting the statutorily required period pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-11(1); then Plaintiffs failed to serve the inappropriately filed Complaint on the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg pursuant to M.R.C.P. 4(h); and then Plaintiffs failed to amend their Complaint on or before March 24, 2006, the expiration of the statute of limitations in this case. As a result, Plaintiffs' August 4, 2006 Motion to Amend their Complaint and their Amended Complaint subsequently filed on September 26, 2006, were filed beyond the MTCA one year statute of limitations. See *Page v. University of Southern Mississippi*, 878 So.2d 1003, 1005-09 (Miss. 2004); Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-11(3).

Plaintiffs can not have it both ways. Either the Amended Complaint relates back to the date of the original Complaint pursuant to M.R.C.P.15(c), leaving the Plaintiffs in the same position of failing to comply with the MTCA's Notice of Claim provision. Or, Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint does not relate back because they named a new party and was therefore filed after the statute of limitations had run. This Court recently ruled as follows: "[I]f an amended complaint is filed after the statute of limitations has run-regardless of when the motion to amend was made-the statute of limitations bars suits to newly named defendants." *Wilner v. White*, 929 So.2d 315, 319. (Miss. 2006).

# The Trial Court's Ruling

On April 5, 2007, the Honorable Circuit Court Judge Isadore W. Patrick, denied the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint. In summary, the Court opined that Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint relates back under M.R.C.P.15(c), and was therefore filed within the one (1) year statute of limitations. The Court further ruled that Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint

was filed after the 90 days notice provision of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. Therefore the present action will proceed against Charles Bunton and the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg. (RV 4 at p. 482)(RE 8).

Based upon the case law referenced herein above, the Defendants respectfully submit that this reasoning is flawed, and that the Court erred in denying their Motion to Dismiss. It only stands to reason that if the Amended Complaint relates back to August 22, 2005 (the original filing date) pursuant to M.R.C.P. 15(c) then it is impossible for it to have been filed ninety (90) days after August 15, 2005 as determined by the Trial Court. It should not be lost that the proper Executive Director of the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg was timely served with a Tort Claims Act Notice of Claim.

Plaintiffs attempt to carve out an exception to the ninety-day (90) notice provision of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act by way of amending their complaint to re-name an already named defendant should not be rewarded. This Court made abundantly clear in *University of Mississippi Medical Center v. Easterling* 928 So.2d 815 (Miss. 2006) that the ninety-day (90) notice provision of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act is a hard-edged, mandatory rule that this Court strictly will strictly enforce. *Id.* at 820.

CONCLUSION

There is no dispute that Plaintiffs sent a MTCA Notice of Claim to the Executive Director

of the Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg (Mr. Jim Stirgus) on August 15, 2005 and then

filed their cause of action against a government entity and a government employee only seven (7)

days later on August 22, 2005 in violation of the MTCA notice provision. If Plaintiffs' Amended

Complaint relates back to August 22, 2005 pursuant to M.R.C.P. 15(c) it puts Plaintiffs in the same

procedural deficiency under the MTCA and can not cure the fact that their lawsuit against a

government entity and its employee was filed only seven days after providing their Tort Claims Act

Notice of Claim. On the other hand, if Plaintiff's Amended Complaint adds a new party as

suggested by Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend it is time barred for all the reasons set out above.

Therefore, Charles E. Bunton, III and Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg respectfully

submit that the Trial Court's denial of their Motion to Dismiss was in error and request that this

Court should reverse and render the Trial Court's April 5, 2007 Order denying Defendants' Motion

to Dismiss.