IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-IA-00621-SCT

CHARLES E. BUNTON, III, and HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF VICKSBURG

APPELLANTS

VS.

DARRELL KING AND MARY KING

APPELLEES

INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WARREN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEES' BRIEF

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

T. Jackson Lyons
T. JACKSON LYONS & ASSOCIATES,
P.A.
120 N. Congress Street, Suite 620
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
Tel. (601) 969-0731
Fax (601) 969-0732
MSB

Raju Aundre' Branson
SCHWARTZ & ASSOCIATES, P.A.
P.O. Box 3949
Jackson, Mississippi 39207-3949
Tel. (601) 988-8888
Fax (601) 948-3822
MSB

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Rule 15 applies to Tort Claims Act cases and HAV was properly joined once it became clear that a mistake had been made as to the proper defendant, that

HAV had actual notice of the institution of the lawsuit, and that HAV knew that but for a mistake it would have been sued originally and not the City of Vicksburg. HAV's complaint that it was denied the ninety day notice period to which it was statutorily entitled is belied by the fact that it had actual notice of the Kings' claims for over a year prior to its being joined pursuant to Rule 15.

For the Court to accept HAV's argument that when a governmental entity is joined by amended complaint and that amendment relates back to the original pleading for statute of limitations purposes, then the government entity cannot receive its ninety day notice would read Rule 15 out of the rule book with respect to Tort Claims Act cases.

ARGUMENT

I. The rules of civil procedure apply to joinder of a party by way of amended complaint in cases arising under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act.

A. Standard of Review

Since HAV along with its insurer MHARM were the proponents of the facts ultimately accepted by the trial court relating to which "housing authority" was Bunton's employer and owner of the truck he drove, the decisions of the trial court sought to be reviewed here are ones of law. HAV makes no argument that the conditions of Rule 15 were not met. The interpretation of the rules of civil procedure are questions of law where the undisputed facts create no ambiguity to be resolved by a fact-finder and the Court applies a *de novo* standard of review. *Mullen v. Green Tree Financial Corp.-MS*, 730 So.2d 9, 11 (Miss.

1998)(procedural matters concerning the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure questions of law). Similarly, interpreting statutes, including issues arising under jurisdictional or prescriptive periods, are prototypical issues of law decided by courts. *Sheriff v. Morris*, 767 So.2d 1062, 1064 (Miss.App. 2000)(de novo review when addressing questions of law including matters involving statutes of limitation).

B. Rule 15 provides the appropriate rule for amended complaints being considered timely as to a new defendant.

Before turning to the merits of how Rule 15, Miss.R.Civ.P., and Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11 work together, there are two necessary preliminary points. First, claims under the MTCA are not among those actions listed in Rule 81, Miss.R.Civ.P., where a statute provides the relevant special procedures for the listed actions and the Rules of Civil Procedure only provide supplemental rules of process where the statute either is silent or where the Rules do not conflict with the prescribed statutory process. Nor has the Court ever held that the Tort Claims Act ousts the procedural norms specified in the Rules of Civil Procedure.

Second, Rule 15 has been interpreted broadly to allow parties to be added and dropped as well as for one party to be substituted for an original party. The Rule states that "[a]n amendment changing the party against whom a claim is asserted relates back" if the Rule's conditions are met. The rule drafters could have chosen more limited terms than "changing." For example, if the rule only applied to exchanging a new defendant for the original one, then it would have

read something like "An amendment substituting a new party against whom a claim is asserted for a previously named party relates back" As a major civil procedure treatise states, "The word 'changing' has been liberally construed by the courts, so that amendments simply adding or dropping parties, as well as amendments that actually substitute defendants, fall within the ambit of the rule." 6A Charles Alan Wright, et al., *Federal Practice and Procedure* § 1498 (2d ed. 1990); *Wilner v. White*, 929 So.2d 315, 322 (Miss. 2006)(rule "clearly contemplates" new party added by amendment).

HAV argues that pursuant to Rule 15(c), the amended complaint relates back to the date the original complaint was filed. (Blue brief at 8) HAV points out that both it and its employee, Bunton, were named in the original complaint. (Blue brief at 4, 8) The "relation back" date, HAV contends, is only seven days after the date of the notice of claim. (Blue brief at 8) This argument ignores the fact that HAV initially was sued as an arm of the City of Vicksburg: "The defendant, Housing Authority of the City of Vicksburg, who (sic) is a government entity, may be served with process by and through its agent for process, Mayor Laurence E. Leyens, Vicksburg Office of the Mayor, 1401 Walnut Street, Vicksburg, Warren County, Mississippi 39180." (V. 1: C.P. 7)

HAV's argument does not correspond with the facts. No one disputes that there were three separate "housing authorities" named in various documents or that both the City and Bunton made mistakes in the motions to dismiss that fostered the confusion. Nor can it be disputed that the City, as HAV, was

dismissed, and HAV as an independent body corporate and politic was added by the Amended Complaint.

While HAV does not contest that the Amended Complaint relates back for purposes of the statute of limitations, it should be noted that there are ample facts in the record supporting the trial court's ruling. Under Rule 15 three conditions must be present for the amendment coming after the limitations period has run to relate back to the date of the original complaint. First, the amendment must concern the same "conduct, transaction, or occurrence set forth" in the original pleading. Second, the new defendant added by the amendment must have received appropriate notice. And third, the new defendant knew or should have known that but for a mistake concerning the identity of the proper party that the action would have been brought against the new defendant.

The first requirement, that the claim arose from the same events stated in the original complaint, is met here. The original and amended complaints are all but identical with respect to the facts relating to the accident and the claims asserted

³Rule 15(c), in relevant part, presently reads as follows:

⁽c) Relation Back of Amendments. Whenever the claim or defense asserted in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleading, the amendment relates back to the date of the original pleading. An amendment changing the party against whom a claim is asserted relates back if the foregoing provision is satisfied and, within the period provided by Rule 4(h) for service of the summons and complaint, the party to be brought in by amendment:

⁽¹⁾ has received such notice of the institution of the action that the party will not be prejudiced in maintaining the party's defense on the merits, and

⁽²⁾ knew or should have known that, but for a mistake concerning the identity of the proper party, the action would have been brought against the party. . . .

by the Kings.

The second condition requires that the new defendant have had notice sufficient that the defendant's defense is not prejudiced. This condition has three elements: (1) notice of the "institution" of the lawsuit; (2) within Rule 4's time for service of process; (3) such that the new party will not be prejudiced in defending on the merits.

While the "notice" requirement has not been elaborately examined by the appellate courts in Mississippi, examples taken from the cases that have found notice to have been imparted are illustrative. In *Womble v. Singing River Hosp.*, 618 So.2d 1252 (Miss. 1993), two physicians sought to be added by amendment had received correspondence about the lawsuit from their insurer and met with a lawyer retained by the insurance company to represent them. There is no doubt that actual notice constitutes "notice" for purposes of Rule 15.

Constructive notice is also alive and well within the terms of Rule 15. In Bedford Health Prop. v. Estate of Williams, 946 So.2d 335 (Miss. 2006), one of the added defendants was an individual who served as the agent for service of process for the original defendant. Id. at 353. The Court noted that other corporate defendants had the same address as the originally-named defendant and that all the entities shared closely held ownership. The close corporate relationship and overlapping ownership among four added defendants imparted notice, according to the Court.

As HAV points out, it had received notice of the Kings' claims on August

15, 2005, when the Kings' lawyer, mistakenly believing HAV to be part of the City, sent claim letters to the Mayor and to HAV's executive director, among others. (Blue brief at 4; V. 3: C.P. 432-34, 441-43) On April 19, 2006, Bunton filed a motion to dismiss which shows that he had access to the claim notice sent to his employer, HAV – erroneously believed at the time to be part of the City. That Bunton's insurance defense counsel was asserting a defense based on the Kings' alleged improper notice to Bunton's employer can only mean that Bunton and his employer, HAV, were equally aware of the lawsuit that had been filed in August, 2005. Otherwise Bunton's counsel would not have known of or had access to the claim letter.

The second element under the notice requirement is that notice have been received with the time for serving process under Rule 4. In this case the service period was extended by order of the trial court and did not expire until April 21, 2006. Two days earlier Bunton filed his motion to dismiss with the Kings' claim letter to his employer, HAV, attached as an exhibit. Obviously, in order to develop the motion to dismiss the Kings' lawsuit prior to filing the motion on April 19, 2006, HAV would have had to have communicated with its employee and his lawyer. Notice can only have been received within the Rule 4 period applicable to this case.

The third element of the Rule 15(c)'s notice condition requires that the new defendant have received "such notice of the institution of the action that the party will not be prejudiced in maintaining the party's defense." With respect to

"prejudice" HAV might suffer, it has been an active participant from an early point in the litigation. There is no showing that the collateral litigation over the proper parties to the lawsuit has in any way affected HAV's ability to defend itself on the merits. Moreover, HAV has never claimed that it has been prejudiced and its argument to the Court – that the amended complaint relates back – concedes the point.

The third condition contains two elements: (1) that the Kings have made a mistake in failing to name HAV instead of the City; and (2) that HAV knew or should have known that but for the mistake it would originally have been sued. As for the Kings' "mistake" in having failed to originally name HAV as an independent political subdivision of the state, Mississippi's general law has always recognized that the word "mistake" encompasses a variety human failings, inadvertence, and honest error. *Mississippi State Bldg. Commission v. Becknell Const., Inc.*, 329 So.2d 57, 61 (Miss. 1976). What "mistake" does not encompass is intentional misconduct, willful neglect, or gross negligence. *Id.*

Rule 15's requirement that a defendant would have been named originally "but for" a mistake of the plaintiff's has not received very much direct attention from Mississippi's appellate courts. However, three cases shed some light:

Womble, supra, Ralph Walker, Inc. v. Gallagher, 926 So.2d 890 (Miss. 2006), and Bedford Health, supra.

In *Womble*, the issues under Rule 15 were whether the physicians had proper notice and whether Womble's lawyer's failure to obtain the medical

records earlier and to refer the records to an expert – which review eventually revealed the claims against the physicians – was a "mistake" within the meaning of Rule 15.

Womble's complaint was filed on March 28, 1988. The physicians' insurance company and the lawyer retained by the insurer corresponded with them about the case and their involvement on April 20 and 21, 1988. Though an earlier version of Rule 15 did not expressly incorporate Rule 4's service period as the current version does, the physicians' actual notice was obviously within the modern Rule 4's 120 time period. The Court held "[o]n these facts the conclusion that, within the statutory period provided by law for commencing this action,

Longmire and Weatherall had notice of this suit and knew or should have known that but for a mistake concerning their identities, they would have been included in this suit when it was originally filed on March 28, 1988, is virtually compelled."

Id. at 1268.

And that was the conclusion of the *Bedford Health* case: notice of the lawsuit itself also led to the awareness that but for the plaintiff's mistake another five defendants would have been named. *Id.* at 354. Here the same is true: in the original complaint – of which HAV had notice – it was sued as an arm of a municipality, not an independent political subdivision. Both the City and Bunton responded to point out that HAV was a statutory creature independent of the City. Miss. Code Ann. § 43-33-1 *et seq.* (creating city and regional housing authorities to provide low income housing and employment). HAV's knowledge that the City

had been sued in its stead imparted awareness that the Plaintiffs had made a mistake in knowing who to sue.

The sources of the confusion were manifold. The traffic accident report form from the investigating police officer named "Mississippi Housing Authorities Risk Management" as the owner of the truck Bunton drove. A reasonable conclusion would be that Bunton either had permissive use of the truck or was MHARM's employee; in either case vicarious liability would attach assuming proof of Bunton's negligence. MHARM is a private domestic non-profit corporation and not a political subdivision of the state. *See*, Office of the Attorney General, Opinion No. 1999-0150 (April 9, 1999)(nonprofit corporation established by housing authorities excluded from the provisions of the MTCA).

Then the City and Bunton piped up with contradictory assertions regarding Bunton's employer and the City offered yet another "housing authority" as a proper defendant. While the confusion was straightened out, it is clear that the Kings were not the only ones having made a "mistake" in attempting to sort out the identity of the real party in interest as a defendant.

As the Court in *Ralph Walker* observed, the purpose of the second prong of Rule 15(c) "is to allow some leeway to a party who made a mistake, so long as the party does what is required within the time period under the rule." *Ralph Walker*, 926 So.2d at 896. In *Womble*, the plaintiff's lawyer waited for a time to obtain medical records that reflected the potential liability of the two physicians sought to be added. The Supreme Court concluded that this sufficed for a mistake in the

identity of the two physicians. Womble, 618 So.2d at 1268.

The federal courts of appeals are split on the question of whether ignorance of a potential defendant is a "mistake" within the meaning of Rule 15, Fed.R.Civ.P. See, *Arthur v. Maersk, Inc.*, 434 F.3d 196, 208 (3rd Cir. 2006)(holding that ignorance of existence of potential defendant is "mistake" and collecting cases). However, in this case the Kings were always aware that a "housing authority" of some description was a defendant.

As the Third Circuit said in *Arthur*, "A 'mistake' is no less a 'mistake' when it flows from lack of knowledge as opposed to inaccurate description. See

Webster's Third New International Dictionary 1446 (1981) (defining 'mistake as 'a wrong . . . statement proceeding from faulty judgment, inadequate knowledge, or inattention')." As did the *Arthur* Court, Mississippi's appellate courts refer to standard dictionary sources to determine the plain meaning of language whether the words are contained in private law such as contracts, or public law such as ordinances and statutes. *Anglin v. Gulf Guaranty Life Ins. Co.*, 956 So.2d 853, ¶ 15 (Miss. 2007).

Not knowing which entity was a proper party, or whether the entity was a municipal agency, is the kind of "mistake" that, as here, normally gets worked out in the pleadings and discovery. The trial court's order allowing the complaint to be amended is an example of the kind of "leeway" referred to by the *Ralph Walker* court. The policy underlying the rule is that a meritorious claim should not be lost because of mistake or inadvertence that causes no prejudice to the party to be

joined.

Consistent with the trial court's ruling and HAV's contention that the amended complaint relates back, Rule 15(c)'s three conditions are met in this case. The complaint against the correctly-identified HAV is therefore within the one year limitations period provided by the MTCA.

C. The Appellants confuse "relation back" for purposes of considering a defendant to have been sued within the statute of limitations with whether the defendant has had at least 90 days under the MTCA to investigate the claim before the plaintiff maintains an action.

HAV admits that it had actual notice of the Kings' claims. HAV admits that the Kings sent its executive director a claim letter on August 15, 2005. HAV admits that it was not joined as a defendant until September 26, 2006. (Blue brief at 4, 8) That the Kings believed HAV a City instrumentality for many months before and after the original complaint was filed is not contested nor relevant when it comes to whether HAV had its ninety days prior to the Kings' "maintain[ing] an action." It is not contested that HAV had notice not ninety days but one year and forty-two days prior to being joined.

The notice provision of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, set out in the margin in relevant part,⁴ requires (1) written notice to the government agency, (2)

⁴Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11, states in relevant part:

⁽¹⁾ After all procedures within a governmental entity have been exhausted, any person having a claim for injury arising under the provisions of this chapter against a governmental entity or its employee shall proceed as he might in any action at law or in equity; provided, however, that ninety (90) days prior to maintaining an action thereon, such person shall file a notice of claim with the chief executive officer of the governmental entity.

delivered at least ninety days prior to the claimant's "maintaining an action" on the claim. The issue, as it has arisen in this case, is how does a claimant initiate the ninety day period "prior to maintaining an action" when the claimant is mistaken about the identity of the governmental actor until after suit has been filed?

It is not contested that the Kings believed the City to be the governmental actor. Nor is it contested that this was a mistake and that HAV is a political subdivision of the state that is independent of its namesake city. Literally speaking, it is impossible for a person intentionally to give notice of any kind prior to filing a lawsuit when the true defendant is not known until after the lawsuit has been filed.

And that suggests at least one possible answer to the conundrum of the impossibility of giving notice to an unknown person. The statute says that the notice must be given ninety days before an action is "maintained." The statute does not say that the notice must be given prior to "filing" a lawsuit, or, like Rule 15, the "institution" of the action. All the statute says is that prior to "maintaining an action" notice must be given.

As the Court has previously had occasion to observe, a statute referring to

⁽²⁾ Every notice of claim required by subsection (1) of this section shall be in writing, and shall be delivered in person or by registered or certified United States mail. Every notice of claim shall contain a short and plain statement of the facts upon which the claim is based, including the circumstances which brought about the injury, the extent of the injury, the time and place the injury occurred, the names of all persons known to be involved, the amount of money damages sought and the residence of the person making the claim at the time of the injury and at the time of filing the notice.

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